Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

Van der Wijden C, Brown J, Kleijnen J



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2003, Issue 4

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com

WILEY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	6
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
REFERENCES	8
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	10
DATA AND ANALYSES	18
ADDITIONAL TABLES	18
WHAT'S NEW	18
HISTORY	18
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	19
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	19
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	19
INDEX TERMS	19

[Intervention Review]

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning

Carla Van der Wijden¹, Julie Brown², Jos Kleijnen³

¹Obstetrics & gynaecology, Ziekenhuis Amstelveen, Amstelveen, Netherlands. ²Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand. ³Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, York, UK

Contact address: Carla Van der Wijden, Institute for Research in Extramural Medicine, VU University Medical Center, Van der Boechorststraat 7, Amsterdam, 1181 BT, Netherlands. c.vanderwijden@vumc.nl. c.l.vanderwijden@online.nl.

Editorial group: Cochrane Fertility Regulation Group. **Publication status and date:** Edited (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 4, 2008. **Review content assessed as up-to-date:** 6 February 2008.

Citation: Van der Wijden C, Brown J, Kleijnen J. Lactational amenorrhea for family planning. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD001329. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001329.

Copyright © 2008 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Fifty percent of pregnancies are unwanted. For several reasons, eg difficulty in obtaining contraceptives, no or ineffective contraception is used to prevent these pregnancies. The lactational amenorrhea method (LAM) is a contraceptive method where the mother is informed and supported how to use breastfeeding, also for contraception. LAM is available and accessible to many women.

Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of LAM as a contraceptive method in fully breastfeeding women, who remain amenorrheic. We compared the effectiveness of LAM, as defined in the 1988 Bellagio Consensus statement, with alternative definitions of LAM using pregnancy and menstruation life tables.

Search methods

MEDLINE 1966 to 2008; EMBASE 1988 to 2008; reference lists of studies; review articles; books related to LAM; published abstracts from breastfeeding, reproductive health conferences; e-mails with study coordinators.

Selection criteria

Out of 459 potentially relevant studies, 159 investigated the risk of pregnancy during LAM or lactational amenorrhea. Inclusion criteria: prospective study, cases (intervention group) and, if available, controls, had to be sexually active; pregnancy had to be confirmed by physical examination or a pregnancy test. Our endpoints were life table menstruation rates and life table pregnancy rates. We included 14 studies reporting on 10 intervention groups and two control groups that met the inclusion criteria. We identified one additional study in the 2007 update.

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers independently extracted data; disagreements were resolved through discussion. We analyzed the studies using narrative methods because of their heterogeneity.

Main results

For the primary outcome, two controlled studies of LAM users reported life table pregnancy rates at 6 months of 0.45 and 2.45 percent and six uncontrolled studies of LAM users reported 0-7.5 percent. Life table pregnancy rates for fully breastfeeding women who were amenorrheic but not using any contraceptive method were 0.88 percent in one study and 0.9 to 1.2 percent (95% confidence interval 0.0 to 2.4) in a second study, depending on the definition of menstruation used. The life table menstruation rate at 6 months in all studies varied between 11.1 and 39.4 percent.

Authors' conclusions

We found no clear differences in life table pregnancy rates between women using LAM and being supported in doing so, and fully breastfeeding amenorrheic women not using any method. Because the length of lactation amenorrhea in women using LAM was very different between the populations studied, and is population specific, it is uncertain whether the LAM extends lactational amenorrhea.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Fully breastfeeding and contraception

In appreciating the role of the lactational amenorrhea method (LAM, a contraceptive method where the mother is informed and supported how to use breastfeeding, also for contraception.) in child spacing, breastfeeding itself should be encouraged from a public health point of view. Breastfeeding while not giving supplementary feeds delays the return of fertility and menstruation, which is a physiological protection against pregnancy. It is not clear if practicing LAM as a contraceptive method itself decreases the risk of pregnancy compared with fully breastfeeding while remaining amenorrheic (no menstrual periods) in the first 6 months after childbirth.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition:

It is estimated that among the annual 150 million pregnancies in the world, 50% are unplanned and generally not wanted, and that most of these occur in developing countries (UNFPA 1996). For several reasons, including difficulties in obtaining contraceptives, no or ineffective contraception is used to prevent these unplanned pregnancies.

Description of the intervention:

The LAM, defined during the 1988 Bellagio Consensus Conference in Italy, is a contraceptive method available and accessible to many women (Family Health 1988; Kennedy 1989). LAM was defined as the informed use of breastfeeding as a contraceptive method by a woman who is still amenorrheic and who does not feed her baby with supplements for up to 6 months after delivery. This would provide more than 98% protection from pregnancy in the first 6 months postpartum according to advocates of this method (Family Health 1988; Kennedy 1989; Kennedy 1992; Labbok 1994). In 1995, during a second conference in Bellagio, it was suggested that women choosing and using the LAM had a life table pregnancy rate at 6 months of less than 2%. This was not based on a systematic review. It was also suggested that "in the studies that included the promotion of appropriate breastfeeding practices, the percentages of women still amenorrheic and still fully breastfeeding at six months postpartum were higher than in control groups not receiving such support" (Kennedy 1996; Van Look 1996). LAM is a 'transitional' form of contraception and is most effective in women planning to breastfeed exclusively during the first 6 months (Labbok 1997).

Many women, however, choose not to use this method owing to concerns about its efficacy (Lopez-Martinez 2006) and uptake is low in many countries (Khella 2004). Where LAM is implemented, the information provided to women includes: the physiological mechanism of lactation and its control of reproductive function; the efficacy of LAM as a means of contraception; and the benefits and disadvantages of LAM as a contraceptive method (Lopez-Martinez 2006; Romero-Gutierrez 2007). Several studies, including Romero-Gutierrez 2007, have followed up women claiming to use LAM, which showed that few of the women who were interested actually implemented the method.

How the intervention might work:

The mechanism by which LAM may work is not clear.

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

Why it is important to do this review:

Many studies on LAM do not include a control group and thus the quality of those studies differs; it is therefore difficult to support the suggestions of the World Health Organization Task Force on Methods for the Regulation of Fertility (WHO 1999b) and those of Labbok (Labbok 1997). If LAM is effective as a contraceptive in the postpartum period there may be implications in offering this method for use in developing countries, in particular where access to or the acceptability of other forms of contraception may be limited. In countries where there is no such limitation, LAM should be studied only if advocating it is not hampering the introduction of longer term methods of contraception.

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this systematic review is to determine the efficacy and safety of LAM as a contraceptive method for lactating women during the 0 to 6 months postpartum period, and to determine all the conditions under which LAM should be used (Stroup 2000). We compared the incidence of menstruation and pregnancy in LAM users to that of recently delivered, fully breastfeeding women who did not use LAM.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

It is unlikely that all women remember exactly when they stopped breastfeeding, started giving supplementary feeds to their infant, had their first period after childbirth and resumed sexual activity. We therefore included not only prospective studies, but both controlled and uncontrolled studies (Quandt 1997; Vitzhum 1994).

Types of participants

Sexually active, healthy, fertile women who had recently given birth and practiced the LAM as their only contraceptive method. If women are not sexually active while practicing a family planning method, no pregnancy can occur. We therefore noted if it was mentioned in the included studies if the participants and, if available, the controls were sexually active (including frequency) during the study period (Caldwell 1977; Feyiesetan 1990; Urdry 1993; van de Walle 1993; Visness 1997).

Types of interventions

Women using LAM compared with controls who gave birth recently and used breast-feeding.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcome measures

Pregnancy and 'menstruation' (after being amenorrheic) were primary outcome measures. The studies had to present the number of women per specific month who experienced 'menstruation' or who became pregnant. Pregnancy had to be confirmed by physical examination or by a pregnancy test.

We considered several definitions of being amenorrheic. The original definition used in the Bellagio Consensus Statement ignores any bleeding before the 56th day postpartum (Family Health 1988). However, in 1995, menstruation was defined in Bellagio as the occurrence, after the 56th day postpartum, of "2 consecutive days of bleeding/spotting, or the women's perception that her menses have returned, whichever of the two comes first" (Kennedy 1996). Labbok used definitions of two continuous days of vaginal bleeding that the woman considered similar to a menstrual period or heavier, or two continuous days of spotting and one day of bleeding, or three continuous days of spotting (Labbok 1997). The World Health Organization (WHO) even used four different definitions to mark the end of amenorrhea (WHO 1999a).

In this systematic review we used three different definitions:

I. The original definition of lactational amenorrhea in fully lactating women, 'ignoring any bleeding before the 56th day postpartum' was used as standard.

II. Any bleeding (including bleeding within 56 days postpartum but separated from the postpartum bleeding by 10 to 14 days or more).

III. The woman's perception that her menses have returned.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We searched the Cochrane Library, issue 4 2007, MEDLINE from 1966 tol 2008 and EMBASE from 1988 until 2008 using the MeSH (or similar) terms

- 1. LAM/
- 2. lactation and amenorrhea/
- 3. breastfeeding and fertility/
- 4. lactation/
- 5. family planning and amenorrhea/
- 6. 1or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5
- Searching other sources

In addition, we considered studies which were identified from reference lists and review articles, books related to LAM and abstracts of conferences. Furthermore, we contacted by e-mail coordinators of such studies and made enquiries with contraception orientated

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

organizations such as the WHO and the Family Health Planning and Population Council. We applied no language restrictions.

Data collection and analysis

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We updated this review in 2008.

Two reviewers independently (CW and Frans Helmerhorst in the original review and CW and JB in the most recent update) selected the studies according to the preset inclusion criteria. They resolved disagreements through discussion. When we identified multiple reports of a study we used only the original results.

Data extraction and management

One reviewer performed data extraction and the second reviewer checked and recorded the data.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

To assess the risk of bias in individual studies we used a modification of a previously published checklist from the National Health Service Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (NHS Centre 2001). Items included were: Did the women enroll at a similar entry point? Were the groups comparable on all important confounding factors? Was follow up long enough for the outcomes to occur? Was the drop-out rate less than 10%? Were the outcomes used clear? Were the presented data clear? We considered age, parity and length of previous lactational amenorrhea or breastfeeding as confounders. The period of lactational amenorrhea tends to be longer for older multiparous women than for younger primiparous women (WHO 1998b). Moreover, older age itself has an influence on fertility and the consecutive lactational amenorrheic period of these women tends to be longer (Jain 1969). Regarding loss to follow up, we used a cut-off point of 10% in scoring this criterion. Loss to follow up occurs for various reasons, such as the mother stopping breastfeeding because of the child's death, being dissatisfied with LAM, choosing another family planning method, wishing to become pregnant, becoming pregnant, or moving to a place outside the study area.

Unit of analysis issues

There are no unit of analysis issues in this review; all reports presented data per woman.

Dealing with missing data

Where there were insufficient or missing data the studys lead author was contacted. If no response was forthcoming we included the study but did not describe the data in the text of the review. *Assessment of heterogeneity*

After inclusion, two reviewers, using their subjective judgment, assessed heterogeneity of the studies, taking into account study design, and comparability of populations, interventions and controls, outcomes, and reported effects. For studies that we considered sufficiently homogeneous, we planned to perform statistical pooling using life table methods; this was not possible and we thus presented a narrative synthesis. All intervention groups presented in 13 of the studies were different from each other. At least 26 different populations were used: various cultures and nationalities and both urban and rural locations in the same country. Knowing that fertility and the recurrence of menstruation after childbirth are population specific, we found that the populations themselves were not comparable. These differences indicated to us that statistical pooling would not be appropriate and we have instead presented narrative results. *Assessment of reporting biases*

We retrieved studies from as many sources as possible. There were not sufficient to construct a funnel plot to assess reporting biases. *Data synthesis*

Owing to heterogeneity among the included studies, we were unable to perform a meta-analysis and therefore describe the results in narrative form. We used a single, not multiple, decrement life table technique to present the data (Trussell 1991a). Multiple decrement life tables measure survival (or failure) of individuals or groups over time. This technique is frequently used in contraceptive research to measure the probability of pregnancy or method continuation. In this context, it measures multiple reasons for discontinuation, including pregnancy, hormonal side effects etc. Single decrement life tables are calculated in the same way as multiple, but at the time of discontinuation they censor individuals who stop using a method for reasons other than the one being measured, and are therefore recommended as the most appropriate method to measure contraceptive outcomes (Trussell 1991a). The life tables presented the number of women per specific month who had a 'menstruation' or who became pregnant.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We do not present any subgroup analysis in this review. *Sensitivity analysis*

We do not present a sensitivity analysis in this review.

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

Results of the search

This is an updated review in which we identified one additional study for inclusion (Egbuonu 2005) and four for exclusion. Thus, from 459 publications identified in the literature, 159 presented original data; 90 were prospective. There were 12 double publications, leaving 78. In 64 one or more inclusion criteria were not fulfilled (no life table rates, sexual activity unknown, no differentiation between full and partial breastfeeding, loss to follow up not specified, highly selective studies according to study coordinators).

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

Hence, 14 studies were left, which dealt with 10 original intervention groups and two control groups. We included these 14 studies in this systematic review (Cooney 1996; Díaz 1988a; Díaz 1988b; Díaz 1991; Díaz 1992; Egbuonu 2005; Kazi 1995; Labbok 1997; Peréz 1991; Peréz 1992; Ramos 1996; Ravera 1995; Rodríguez 1993; WHO 1999a).

Included studies

See 'Characteristics of included studies'. We identified only two controlled trials (Peréz 1991; Díaz 1988a). Díaz, however, present the data in four separate publications; in three he presented only data about cases (the intervention group) and in one he presented similar data plus data about controls, this suggesting it was a controlled study (Díaz 1988a; Díaz 1988b; Díaz 1991; Díaz 1992). Peréz presented the same cases in two publications, one with controls, and one without (Peréz 1991;Peréz 1992). Thus, ten (14 minus 4) intervention groups (cases) were left and two control groups.

Excluded studies

The main reason for excluding studies was the lack of reported life table rates, sexual activity unknown, no differentiation between full and partial breastfeeding, loss to follow up not specified, and highly selective studies according the co-ordinators of these studies (see 'Characteristics of excluded studies').

Risk of bias in included studies

see 'Characteristics of included studies' and Table 1

Allocation

In two studies (Díaz 1988a; Peréz 1991) allocation concealment was unclear. In the remainder there was no evidence that allocation concealment had been used.

Blinding

There was no blinding to the intervention in any of the studies *Follow up and exclusions*

Follow up was acceptable concerning the primary outcome and ranged from 6 months to 1'year.

Selective reporting

There was no evidence of selective reporting

Other potential sources of bias

One of the main sources of bias within this review is the multiple definitions of 'amenorrhea' that were used. This means there is also considerable selection bias in the type of women enrolled in the studies. In most studies women were included just after delivery. Díaz (Díaz 1988a) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993) started to include women between 6 and 12 weeks after delivery, thus creating a selection bias. The confounders of age and parity were given in all included studies but those of length of previous lactational amenorrhea and breastfeeding were not clear in the studies from

the WHO (WHO 1999a), Cooney (Cooney 1996), Díaz (Díaz 1988a), Peréz (Peréz 1991), Ravera (Ravera 1995) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993). In the studies by Cooney, Ravera and the WHO the drop-out rate was more than 10%, but was not specified. For example, Cooney's study (Cooney 1996) took place during the civil war in Rwanda. The definitions of the endpoints were not clear in the reports by Cooney (Cooney 1996) and Labbok (Labbok 1997). The results were presented in a transparent way in all studies, except for Díaz (Díaz 1988a), Peréz (Peréz 1991) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993).

Other potential sources of bias

One of the main sources of bias within this review is the multiple definitions of 'amenorrhea' that were used. This means there is also considerable selection bias in the type of women enrolled in the studies. In most studies women were included just after delivery. Díaz (Díaz 1988a) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993) started to include women between 6 and 12 weeks after delivery, thus creating a selection bias. The confounders of age and parity were given in all included studies but those of length of previous lactational amenorrhea and breastfeeding were not clear in the studies from the WHO (WHO 1999a), Cooney (Cooney 1996), Díaz (Díaz 1988a), Peréz (Peréz 1991), Ravera (Ravera 1995) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993). In the studies by Cooney, Ravera and the WHO the drop-out rate was more than 10%, but was not specified. For example, Cooney's study (Cooney 1996) took place during the civil war in Rwanda. The definitions of the endpoints were not clear in the reports by Cooney (Cooney 1996) and Labbok (Labbok 1997). The results were presented in a transparent way in all studies, except for Díaz (Díaz 1988a), Peréz (Peréz 1991) and Rodríguez (Rodríguez 1993).

Effects of interventions

Pregnancy rate in controlled studies

As already noted, we identified two controlled studies (Díaz 1988a; Peréz 1991). Díaz studied breastfeeding women using an intrauterine device (IUD) as a control group. For the purpose of pregnancy rates these controls were not considered to be suitable (none of them became pregnant). In this 'controlled' study two different definitions were used to mark the end of amenorrhea. The standard definition, ignoring any bleeding before day 56 postpartum, gave a cumulative life table pregnancy rate of 2.45 after 6 months. Using the second definition of any bleeding to mark the end of amenorrhea, a cumulative life table pregnancy rate of 0.45 was calculated.

In the other controlled study, Peréz used the standard definition. The life table pregnancy rate was 0.45 (one pregnancy in 1671 woman months accumulated (WMAC)) for the women using the LAM, compared with zero (none in 690 WMAC) for the controls,

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

who were fully breastfeeding, amenorrheic women not using any other method of contraception.

Recurrence of 'menstruation' (vaginal blood loss) in controlled studies

We obtained data from the same two controlled studies already noted (Díaz 1988a; Peréz 1991). Díaz found no difference in reestablishment of 'menstruation' between the intervention and the control groups. Of all fully breastfeeding women (236 cases + 440 controls) 52% were not amenorrheic at 6 months. Peréz found that 56% of the fully nursing women in the intervention group remained amenorrheic at 6 months (life table menstruation rate 18.78), compared with 22% in the control group. The objective of Peréz's study was to assess the impact of a breastfeeding promotion campaign and the acceptance and use of LAM for natural child spacing, not testing the effectiness of LAM. The LAM users and their health care providers received an exceptional amount of support.

Pregnancy rate in uncontrolled studies

We identified six uncontrolled studies, that used the standard LAM definition (Cooney 1996; Egbuonu 2005; Kazi 1995; Labbok 1997; Ramos 1996; Ravera 1995). The number of pregnancies per woman month of LAM use during the first 6 months were according to Egbuono (no woman months is provided), Kazi 1/ 131.3 (cumulative pregnancy rate (CPR) 0.58), Ravera 0/432, Cooney 0/1264, Ramos 2/1030.5 (CPR 0.97) and Labbok 5/2718 (CPR 1.5). It should be noted that the life table pregnancy rates in the multicentre study of Labbok varied from 0 to 7.5 per site. In the study by Ramos et al. (Ramos 1996) the cumulative pregnancy risk was given for both correct and incorrect users of LAM as 0.88. This included all breastfeeding, sexually active, women correctly or using LAM incorrectly (which means experiencing vaginal blood loss and not using any contraceptive method). The CPR for women using LAM correctly was even higher, being 0.97. In a WHO study (WHO 1999a), 13 pregnancies were reported in 2831 to 2969 WMAC, depending which definition was used to mark the end of amenorrhea. The cumulative lifetable pregnancy rate in fully breastfeeding, amenorrheic women not using any contraceptive method in that study was 0.9 to 1.2 (95% confidence interval 0 to 2.4).

Recurrence of 'menstruation' (vaginal blood loss) in uncontrolled studies

In the above-mentioned studies the standard definition of LAM, ignoring any bleeding before the 56th day postpartum, was used. Unfortunately, Kazi (Kazi 1995) gave no data about the recurrence of menstruation. The number of menstruation recurrence/

woman months of LAM use during the first 6 months were, according to Ravera (Ravera 1995), 40/432 (cumulative menstruation rate (CMR) 39.4) and to Cooney (Cooney 1996) 27/1179 (CMR 11.1). Ramos (Ramos 1996) and Labbok (Labbok 1997) did not provide these monthly data, giving only CMRs of 18.78 and 27.6 respectively. Only one study also presented data using the definition 'any bleeding is considered a menstruation': Díaz (Díaz 1988a) reported a life table menstruation rate after 6 months of using LAM of 135/937 (CMR 53.2). These data must be seen in the context that amenorrheic women were recruited 6 to 12 weeks after delivery. In the 1999 WHO study (WHO 1999a) definition III was used (woman's perception that menstruation had resumed), but no menstruation life table rates are given.

In Rodriquez' uncontrolled study, the women using LAM were fully breastfeeding and using an IUD. The CMR at 6 months was 32 (Rodríguez 1993).

In the WHO study (WHO 1999a), the women in the intervention group were fully breastfeeding and their CMR at 6 months varied from 26.5 to 69.5. An interesting point to note in this study is that 25.4% of these women experienced bleeding before the 56th day. In 44.4% (11.3/25.4) of them this was separated by more than 14 days from the puerperal bleeding and in 83.4% it was followed by a second bleed within 21 to 70 days. No cumulative rates or monthly life tables were provided by Egbuonu 2005, who reported that menstrual flow returned in 33.8% of women by the sixth week of lactation and in 70.2% at 6 months.

DISCUSSION

A systematic review of observational studies has many limitations owing to publication and language biases (Blettner 2000; Concato 2000; Sim 1996; Stroup 2000). In this review, 13 studies were finally included, reporting on nine intervention and two control groups. The ways in which definitions were used, intervention and control groups composed and data presented were not clear. Even when they were clear, it did not make sense to pool these data, because fertility and the length of amenorrhea in fully breastfeeding women turned out to vary between different populations (Bonte 1974; Ford 1987; Ford 1993; Jones RE 1989; Lewis 1991; Sutton 2000; WHO 1999a). Serious heterogeneity among the women recruited was observed. For example, Cooney studied the efficacy of LAM in Rwanda, where the national mean duration of breastfeeding was 25.9 months and lactational amenorrhea 16.8 months before the introduction of LAM (Cooney 1996). In the study by Kazi, only women who had breastfed their previous child for at least 1 year were recruited (Kazi 1995). Realising that pregnancy is the most important reason for weaning, it is likely that the women studied did not become pregnant during the first 6 months of their previous lactational amenorrhea (Feinstein 1986; Jakobson 1996; Marandi 1993). The length of a previous amenorrhea influences that of the next amenorrhea, which will probably last longer. It

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

may have been that the women studied would not be likely to become pregnant in the 6 months of using LAM during the study period (Delvoye 1977; Salber 1968; WHO 1999a).

Another weak point in the design of most included studies was the lack of a control group. A control group from the same culture/ site is a prerequisite because the length of lactational amenorrhea in fully breastfeeding women is culture and site specific (Trussell 1991a; WHO 1998a).

The LAM was introduced as being a safe contraceptive method and a method to delay menstruation. Much effort and money was put into its promotion. However, in this review no differences could be found in pregnancy rates between motivated and supported LAM users and women 'just' fully breastfeeding and staying amenorrheic. The suggestion that LAM delays the recurrence of menstruation more than does exclusive breastfeeding could not be supported.

Advocates of LAM have also suggested that its use would motivate women who have never used contraception before to use another contraceptive method after using LAM. Data supporting this suggestion gathered from a health centre may be biased. Owing to a lack of pregnancy tests, only women using LAM as a contraceptive method were allowed to have an IUD fitted without having a pregnancy test before insertion. Breastfeeding, amenorrheic women not using any method did not receive an IUD because a pregnancy test could not be carried out before its insertion (Hardy 1998; Kennedy 1998a).

LAM has been promoted especially in developing countries where it is difficult to obtain contraceptives. The results of Egbuonu (Egbuonu 2005) are in this case alarming. In his study, LAM was not introduced as a contraceptive method; instead, exclusive breastfeeding for 178 women was promoted. No data on parity or on previous breastfeeding experience were given, so the results presented could be even more, or perhaps less, alarming. Only 3.9% of these women were exclusively breastfeeding at 6 months, and 27.8% of the 144 mothers exclusively breastfeeding resumed sexual activity at 6 weeks after delivery and seven of the seven women exclusively breastfeeding at 6 months. A return of menstrual flow occurred in 33.3% of the 144 exclusively breastfeeding women at 6 weeks and in 57.1% of the 7 women exclusively breastfeeding at 6 months (70.2% for all breastfeeding women at 6 months).

In Nigeria where it is likely to be more difficult to obtain contraceptives compared with a high income country, it might be asked if this method is applicable. In these countries, waiting for the end of the amenorrhea before commencing another 'method' is not acceptable. Using the first months after childbirth for the promotion of breastfeeding in the interest of the baby's health and to motivate the mother to use another contraceptive method - if required - and then arranging this, would be a wiser course of action (Bracher 1992; Hardy 1998; Hight-Laukaran 1993; Kennedy 1991; Kennedy 1998a; Labbok 1991; Potter 1973; Trussell 1991b).

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Fully breastfeeding women who remain amenorrheic have a very small risk of becoming pregnant in the first 6 months after delivery when relying on lactational subfertility (Bracher 1992; Hardy 1998; Hight-Laukaran 1993; Kennedy 1991; Kennedy 1998a; Labbok 1991; Potter 1973; Trussell 1991b). According to the studies in this review, amenorrhea should be redefined as no vaginal blood loss for at least 10 days after postpartum bleeding (WHO 1999b).

When amenorrhea is likely to end is unpredictable and because LAM was promoted especially in countries where it is difficult to obtain contraceptives, a dilemma was created. In these countries, waiting for the end of amenorrhea before starting to use a contraception is not acceptable. Using the first months after childbirth for the promotion of breastfeeding and to motivate the mother to use another contraceptive method - if needed - and also arranging this, might be a wiser way forward (Bracher 1992; Hardy 1998; Hight-Laukaran 1993; Kennedy 1991; Kennedy 1998a; Labbok 1991; Potter 1973; Trussell 1991b). During breastfeeding an IUD is preferable. Progestin-only pills or barrier methods are alternatives that could be considered.

Implications for research

If new research is to be undertaken in the future, uniform and transparent definitions should be used, intervention groups and controls should be from the same population, and be comparable for culture, age, parity and previous breastfeeding experience or lactational amenorrhea. A careful description of populations and settings is essential. Even then it would be doubtful whether such newly achieved results could be generalised. An economic analysis would also be useful, in which postpartum and postamenorrheic strategies for contraception should be compared (Kennedy 1998b).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledge the support of the Cochrane Collaboration Updating Project in facilitating the timely update of this review.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Cooney 1996 {published data only}

Cooney KA, Nyirabukeye T, Labbok MH, Hoser PH, Ballard E. An assessment of the nine-month lactational amenorrhea method (MAMA-9) in Rwanda. *Studies Family Planning* 1996;**27**:102,71.

Díaz 1992 {published data only}

Díaz S, Cárdenas H, Brandeis A, Miranda P, Schiappacasse V, Salvatierra AM, et al.Early difference in the endocrine profile of long and short lactational amenorrhea. *Journal Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1992;**72**:196–201.

Díaz 1988a {published data only}

Díaz S, Rodríguez G, Marshall G, del Pino G, Casado ME, Miranda P, et al.Breastfeeding pattern and the duration of lactational amenorrhea in urban Chilean women. *Contraception* 1988;**38**:37–51.

Díaz 1988b {published data only}

Díaz S, Rodríguez G, Peralta O, Miranda P, Casado ME, et al.Lactational amenorrhea and the recovery of ovulation and fertility in fully nursing Chilean women. *Contraception* 1988;**38**:53–67.

Díaz 1991 {published data only}

Díaz S, Aravena R, Cárdenas H, Casado ME, Miranda P, et al.Contraceptive efficacy of lactation amenorrhea in urban Chilean women. *Contraception* 1991;**43**:335–52.

Egbuonu 2005 {published data only}

Egbuonu I, Ezechukwu CC, Chukwuka JO, Ikechebelu JI. Breast-feeding, return of menses, sexual activity and contraceptive practices among mothers in the first six months of lactation in Onitsha, South Eastern Nigeria. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecolgy* 2005;**25**:500–3.

Kazi 1995 {published data only}

Kazi A, Kennedy KI, Visness CM, Khan T. Effectiveness of the lactational amenorrhea method in Pakistan. *Fertility and Sterility* 1995;**64**:717–23.

Labbok 1997 {published data only}

Labbok MH, Hight-Laukaran V, Peterson AE, Fletcher V, von Hertzen H, Van Look PF. Multicenter study of the lactational amenorrhea method (LAM): I. Efficacy, duration, and implications for clinical application.. *Contraception* 1997;**55**:327–36.

Peréz 1991 {published data only}

Peréz A, Valdes V. Santiago breastfeeding promotion program: Preliminary results of an intervention study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1991;**165**: 2039–45.

Peréz 1992 {published data only}

Peréz A, Labbok MH, Queenan JT. Clinical study of the lactational amenorrhoea method for family planning. *Lancet* 1992;**339**:968–70.

Ramos 1996 {published data only}

Ramos R, Kennedy KI, Visness CM. Effectiveness of lactational amenorrhoea in prevention of pregnancy in

Manila, the Philippines: non-comparative prospective trial. *BMJ* 1996;**313**:909–12.

Ravera 1995 {published data only}

Ravera M, Ravera C, Reggiori A, Cocozza E, Cianta F, Riccioni G, et al.A study of breastfeeding and the return of menses in Hoima District, Uganda. *East African Medical Journal* 1995;**72**:147–9.

Rodríguez 1993 {published data only}

Rodríguez G, Diaz S. Breast feeding and the length of postpartum amenorrhea: A hazards model approach. In: Gray R, Leridon H, Spira A editor(s). *Biomedical and demographic determinants of reproduction*. ISBN 0-19-828371-7. New York: Clarendon Press/Oxford University Press, 1993:413–27.

WHO 1999a {published data only}

World Health Organization Task Force on Methods for the Natural Regulation of Fertility. The WHO multinational study of breast-feeding and lactational amenorrhea. III. Pregnancy during breast-feeding. *Fertility and Sterility* 1999;**72**:431–40.

References to studies excluded from this review

Gross 2002 {published data only}

Gross BA, Burger H, WHO Task Force on Methods for the Natural Regulation of Fertility. Breastfeeding patterns and return to fertility in Australian women.. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2002;**42**: 148–54.

Short 1991 {published data only}

Short R, Lewis P, Renfree M, Shaw G. Contraceptive effects of extended lactational amenorrhoea: beyond the Bellagio Consensus. *Lancet* 1991;**337**:715–7.

Tazhibayev {published data only}

Tazhibayev S, Sharmanov T, Ergalieva A, Dolmatova O, Mukasheva O, Seidakhmetova A, et al.Promotion of Lactation Amenorrhea Method Intervention Trial. May 2004. www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/fromtiers/FR_FinalReports/Kazakhstan_LAM.pdf.

Valdes 2000 {published data only}

Valdes V, Labbok MH, Pugin E, Perez A. The efficacy of the lactational amenorrhoea method (LAM) among working women. *Contraception* 2000;**62**:217–9.

Additional references

Blettner 2000

Blettner M, Sauerbrei W, Schlehofer B, Scheuerpflug T, Friedenreich C. Traditional reviews, meta-analyses and pooled analyses in epidemiology. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1999;**28**:1–9.

Bonte 1974

Bonte M, Akingeneye E, Gashakamba M, Mbarutso E, Nolens M. Influence of socio-economic level on the

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

conception rate during lactation. *International Journal of Fertility* 1974;**19**:97–102.

Bracher 1992

Bracher M. Breastfeeding, lactational infecundity, contraception and the spacing of births: implications of the Bellagio Consensus Statement. *Health Transition Review* 1992;**2**:19–47.

Caldwell 1977

Caldwell JC, Caldwell P. The role of marital sexual abstinence in determining fertility: a study of the Yoruba in Nigeria. *Population Studies* 1977;**31**:193–217.

Concato 2000

Concato J, Shah N, Horwitz RI. Randomized, controlled trials, observational studies and the hierarchy of research designs. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2000;**342**: 1887–92.

Delvoye 1977

Delvoye P, Demaegd M, Delogne-Desnoeck J, Robyn C. The influence of the frequency of nursing and the previous lactation experience on serum prolactin in lactating women. *Journal of Biosocial Science* 1977;**9**:447–51.

Family Health 1988

Family Health International. Consensus statement. Breastfeeding as a family planning method. *Lancet* 1988;**ii**: 1204–5.

Feinstein 1986

Feinstein JM, Berkelhamer JE, Gruszka ME, Wong CA, Carey AE. Factors related to early termination of breastfeeding in an urban population. *Pediatrics* 1986;**78**:210–5.

Feyiesetan 1990

Feyiesetan BJ. Postpartum sexual abstinence, breastfeeding and childspacing, among Yoruba women in urban Nigeria. *Social Biology* 1990;**37**:110–27.

Ford 1987

Ford K, Kim Y. Distributions of postpartum amenorrhea: some new evidence. *Demography* 1987;**24**:413–30.

Ford 1993

Ford K, Kim YJ. Demographic research on lactational amenorrhoea. In: Gray R, Leridon H, Spira A editor(s). *Biomedical and demographic determinants of reproduction*. ISBN 0-19-828371-7. New York: Claridon Press/Oxford University Press, 1993:359–71.

Hardy 1998

Hardy E, Santos LC, Osis MJ, Canalho G, Cecatli JG, Faundes A. Contraceptive use and pregnancy before and after introducing lactational amenorrhea (LAM) in a postpartum program. *Advances in Contraception* 1998;**14**: 59–68.

Hight-Laukaran 1993

Hight-Laukaran V, Labbok M. The lactational amenorroea method re-examined: a response to Bracher's simulation models. *Health Transition Review* 1993;**3**:97–106.

Jain 1969

Jain AK. Fecundability and its relation to age in a sample of Tawainese women. *Population Studies* 1969;**23**:69–85.

Jakobson 1996

Jakobson MS, Sodemann M, Mølbak K, Aaby P. Reasons for termination of breastfeeding and the length of breastfeeding. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1996;**25**: 115–21.

Jones RE 1989

Jones RE. Breast-feeding and post partum amenorrhoea in Indonesia. *Jornal of Biosocial Science* 1989;**21**:101–8.

Kennedy 1989

Kennedy KI, Rivera R, McNeilly AS. Consensus statement on the use of breastfeeding as a family planning method. *Contraception* 1989;**39**:477–96.

Kennedy 1991

Kennedy KI, Rivera R, McNeilly AS, Williamson NE, Shelton J, van Look PFA, et al.Rejoinder to Trussell and Santow. *Health Transition Review* 1991;**1**:107–9.

Kennedy 1992

Kennedy KI, Vissness CM. Contraceptive efficacy of lactational amenorrhoea. *Lancet* 1992;**339**:227–30.

Kennedy 1996

Kennedy KI, Labbok MH, Van Look PFA. Lactational amenorrhea method for family planning. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstettrics* 1996;**54**:55–7.

Kennedy 1998a

Kennedy KI, Kotelchuck M, Visness CM, Kazi A, Ramos R. Users' understanding of the lactational amenorrhea method and the occurrence of pregnancy. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1998;**14**:209–18.

Kennedy 1998b

Kennedy KI, Kotelchuck M. Policy considerations for the introduction and promotion of the lactational amenorrhea method: advantages and disadvantages of LAM. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1998;**14**:191–203.

Khella 2004

Khella AK, Fahim HI, Issa AH, Sokal DC, Gadalla MA. Lactational amenorrhea as a method of family plannig in Egypt. *Contraception* 2004;**69**:317–22.

Labbok 1991

Labbok M. Rejoinder to Trussell and Santow. *Health Transition Review* 1991;**1**:111–4.

Labbok 1994

Labbok MH, Perez A, Valdes V, Sevilla F, Wade K, Laukaran VH, et al. The lactational amenorrhea method (LAM): A postpartum introductory family planning method with policy and program implications. *Advances in Contraception* 1994;**10**:93–109.

Lewis 1991

Lewis PR, Brown JB, Renfree MB, Short RV. The resumption of ovulation and menstruation in a well-nourished population of breastfeeding women for an extended period of time. *Fertility and Sterility* 1991;**55**: 529–36.

Lopez-Martinez 2006

Lopez-Martinez MG, Romero-Gutierrez G, Ponce-Ponce de Leon AL. Acceptance of lactational amenorrhoea for

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

family planning after post partum counseling. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care* 2006; **11**:297–301.

Marandi 1993

Marandi A, Afzali HM, Hossaini AF. The reasons for early weaning among mothers in Teheran. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 1993;**71**:561–9.

NHS Centre 2001

NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Undertaking systematic reviews of research on effectiveness. CRD's guidance for those carrying out or commissioning reviews. *CRD report Number 4.* 2nd Edition. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York, 2001.

Potter 1973

Potter RG, Masnick GS, Gendell M. Postamenorrheic versus postpartum strategies of contraception. *Demography* 1973;**10**:99–112.

Quandt 1997

Quandt SA. Maternal recall accuracy for dates of infant feeding transitions. *Human Organization* 1997;**46**:152–61.

Romero-Gutierrez 2007

Romero-Gutierrez G, Vaca-Ortiz N, Ponce-Ponce de Leon AL, Lopez Martinez MG. Actual use of the lactational amenorrhoea method. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care* 2007;**12**:340–44.

Salber 1968

Salber EJ, Feldman JJ, Hannigan M. Duration of postpartum amenorrhea in successive pregnancies. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1968;**100**:24–9.

Sim 1996

Sim I, Hlatky MA. Growing pains of meta-analysis. *BMJ* 1996;**313**:702–3.

Stroup 2000

Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al.Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology. *JAMA* 2000;**283**:2008–12.

Sutton 2000

Sutton AJ, Duval SJ, Tweedie RL, Abrams KR, Jones DR. Empirical assessment of effect of publication bias on metaanalyses. *BMJ* 2000;**320**:1574–7.

Trussell 1991a

Trussell J. Methodological pitfalls in the analysis of contraceptive failure. *Statatistics in Medicine* 1991;**10**: 201–20.

Trussell 1991b

Trussell J, Santow G. Is the Bellagio consensus statement on the use of contraception sound public-health policy?. *Health Transition Review* 1991;1:105–7.

UNFPA 1996

United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). The state of world population 1996. http://www.unfpa.org/swp/1996/index.htm.

Urdry 1993

Urdry JR, Deang L. Determinants of coitus after childbirth. *Journal of Biosocial Science* 1993;**25**:117–25.

van de Walle 1993

Walle E van de, Walle F van de. Post-partum sexual abstinence in tropical Africa. In: Gray R, Leridon H, Spira A editor(s). *Biomedical and demographic determinants of reproduction*. ISBN 0-19-828371-7. New York: Claridon Press/Oxford University Press, 1993:446–60.

Van Look 1996

Van Look PFA. Lactational amenorrhoea method for family planning. *BMJ* 1996;**313**:893.

Visness 1997

Visness CM, Kennedy KI. The frequency of coitus during breastfeeding. *Birth* 1997;**24**:253–7.

Vitzhum 1994

Vitzhum JV. Suckling patterns: lack of concordance between maternal recall and observational data. *American Journal of Human Biology* 1994;**6**:551–62.

WHO 1998a

World Health Organization Task Force on Methods of Natural Regulation of Fertility. The WHO Multinational study of breast-feeding and lactational amenorrhea: I. The description of infant feeding patterns and the return of menses. *Fertility and Sterility* 1998;**70**:448–60.

WHO 1998b

World Health Organization Task Force on Methods of Natural Regulation of Fertility. The WHO Multinational study of breast-feeding and lactational amenorrhea: II. Factors associated with the length of amenorrhea. *Fertility and Sterility* 1998;**70**:461–71.

WHO 1999b

World Health Organization Task Force on Methods of Natural Regulation of Fertility. The WHO Multinational study of breast-feeding and lactational amenorrhea: IV. Postpartum bleeding and lochia in breast-feeding women. *Fertility and Sterility* 1999;**72**:444–7.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Cooney 1996

Methods	Prospective follow-up study				
Participants	419 Rwandan couples, mean age 31, parity 3.2				
Interventions		LAM, education, monthly group meetings, monthly follow- up and completion of a checklist, individual counseling sessions for couples			
Outcomes	816 couples started the WMAC)	method, 286 were analysed. No pregnancies in 1264 WMAC. CMR 11 (in 1264			
Notes	LAM extended for 9 n	nonths was studied. Definition of menstruation used not clear			
Risk of bias					
Item	Authors' judgement	Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used				
Díaz 1992					
Methods					
Participants	See Rodríguez 1993				
Interventions					
Outcomes					
Notes	Data given in other publications				
Risk of bias					
Item	Authors' judgement	Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used				

Díaz 1988a				
Methods	Observational, comparative follow-up study.			
Participants	236 cases (entering at day 330 postpartum), on demand feeding Chilean women relying on lactational infertility. Age 23.5, parity 1.7.Controls: 440 (non-hormonal IUD within first 2 postpartum months; 125 entering at 30 days; 315 enetring at 60 days postpartum) on demand feeding urban Chilean women using an IUD. Age 23.7, parity 1.8			
Interventions	LAM, education for t instructions	he cases; cases and con	ntrols monthly follow-up, reinforcement of breastfeeding	
Outcomes	CPR 2.45 or 0.45 (788 6 months	8 WMAC) depending o	on the definition used. 52% of cases experienced menses at	
Notes	Selection bias at point	of entry. Controls: two	different definitions of amenorrhea used	
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement		Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear		B - Unclear	
Díaz 1988b				
Methods				
Participants	See Rodríguez 1993 for 48 women; see Díaz 1988a for the 236 cases			
Interventions				
Outcomes				
Notes	Data given in other publications			
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement	Description		
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used		
Díaz 1991				
Methods				
Participants	See Díaz 1988a			
Interventions				
Outcomes				

Notes	Data given in other publications			
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used		
Egbuonu 2005				
Methods	Prospective, non-comp	parative study		
Participants	178 women in Nigeria	attending infa	nt welfare clinics	
Interventions	LAM education and qu	uestionnaires c	ompleted at 6, 10 and 14 weeks, and 6 months post-partum	
Outcomes	There were no pregnar	ncies in any of	the women during the study period	
Notes	No clear definition of menstruation; no life tables			
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used			
Kazi 1995				
Methods	Prospective non-comparative study			
Participants	399 Pakistani women, previous breastfed an infant for more than 1 year. Age 27.2, parity 4.4;25% rural, 37.6 % literate			
Interventions	LAM, education, weekly interviews			
Outcomes	CPR 0.6 (1 pregnancy in 1313 WMAC). CPR lactational amenorrhea alone 0.41. CMR not given			
Notes	Selection bias			
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used			

Labbok 1997

Methods	Multicenter prospective study; 11 sites in 10 different countries				
Participants	491 women; age 27.5; parity 2.4. Education level 4-10 years in developing countries; 13-17 in other countries				
Interventions	LAM health education during monthly follow 9 and 12 months	7-up visits checking LAM criteria over 6 months, contact at			
Outcomes	Efficacy rates of LAM 92.5-100 (2718 WMAC). Lactational amenorrhea alone protected for 98.0 (2828 WMAC)				
Notes	3 definitions of menstruation used. Selection	bias			
Risk of bias					
Item	Authors' judgement	Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used			
D / 1001					
Peréz 1991					
Methods	Comparative prospective intervention study				
Participants	422 cases urban lower-middle class breastfeeding Chilean women from Santiago: age 27.1, parity 2.0. 313 controls: age 26.8, parity 1.7. Education level of controls slightly higher				
Interventions	LAM breastfeeding promotion campaign; extensive health education and support; controls received 'usual care'				
Outcomes	Cases: CPR 0.45 (1671 WMAC); CMR 18.78 (1671 WMAC). Controls: CPR 0 (690 WMAC); 52% experienced menstruation before 6 months				
Notes	Lactation performance in cases better than in controls. 97% of cases completed the study: number of controls that completed the study unknown				
Risk of bias					
Item	Authors' judgement Description				
Allocation concealment?	Unclear B - Unclear				
Peréz 1992					
Methods					
Participants	See Peréz 1991				
Interventions					

Outcomes			
Notes	Data given in another publication		
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Descriptio)n
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not us	sed
Ramos 1996			
Methods	Non-comparative pros	pective trial	
Participants	485 lower income, Fili 3.2	pino, educat	eed women with extensive experience of breastfeeding. Age 26.6, parity
Interventions	LAM education		
Outcomes	CPR 0.97 (1030.5 WMAC). 1/3 experienced menses before day 180. CPR all breastfeeding amenorrheic women 0.88 (1141.6 WMAC)		
Notes	Selection bias		
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement Description		Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used		
Ravera 1995			
Methods	Prospective follow-up	study,	
Participants	154 Ugandese women. Age 24.4; parity 2.2.		
Interventions	LAM education, breastfeeding practices reinforced with monthly follow up		
Outcomes	No pregnancy recorded (432 WMAC); CMR 39.4 (432 WMAC)		
Notes	154 women started, 134 completed the study		
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Des	scription

Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used		
Rodríguez 1993				
Methods	Prospective follow-up study			
Participants	50 fully breastfeeding Chilear	n women using an IUD		
Interventions	Non-LAM, reinforcement of l fortnightly in the first 3 mont	breastfeeding instructions, filling in a monthly calendar. Blood samples taken ths and 2 per week thereafter		
Outcomes	CPR unsuitable (IUD users);	CMR at 6 months 32 (126.5 WMAC)		
Notes	Selection bias: only women fu	Illy breastfeeding and amenorrheic on days 60 to 90 postpartum enrolled		
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement Description			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear D - Not used			
WHO 1999a				
Methods	Prospective longitudinal study	у		
Participants	4118 breastfeeding, literate women in China, India, Australia, Nigeria, Chile and Sweden. 3422 completed the study			
Interventions	Non- LAM, infant feeding practices, menstrual status and pregnancy recorded. Participants kept a daily record			
Outcomes	Censored CPR 0.9-1.2 (2831-2969 WMAC) depending which definition of menstruation was used			
Notes	4 different definitions of menstruation used; 696 women left the study (150 of whom had only 1 uncon- firmed bleeding, 546 had no bleeding when they left the study)			
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement	Description		

D - Not used

CMR, cumulative menstruation rate at 6 months according life tables CPR, cumulative pregnancy rate at 6 months according life tables IUD, intrauterine device LAM, lactational amenorrhea method

Unclear

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

Allocation concealment?

WMAC, woman months accumulated

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Gross 2002	Study is part of a WHO trial
Short 1991	No life table rates, no differentiation between full and partial breastfeeding; loss to follow up more than 10% or not specified
Tazhibayev	Aim of the study was promotion of LAM. Endpoints were knowledge of LAM and other methods of contraception and number of pregnancies. No details on sexual activity, no pregnancy life tables; no definitions and a lack of clarity for 'menstruation'
Valdes 2000	Aim of the study was to assess the efficacy of LAM under certain conditions. No information on sexual activity; the definition of LAM is unclear, no life tables for menstruation ; no definition of menstruation

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Quality of the included studies according to the NHS Centre 2001 table

Trials	Entry point	Confound- ing of cases		Follow-up length	Drop outs < 10%	Data clear	Endpoints clear	Same popu- lation
Cooney 1996	+	Unclear		+	Unclear	+	Unclear	-
Díaz 1988a	-	Unclear	Unclear	+	+ Cases	-	+	-
Kazi 1995	+	-		+	+	+	+	-
Labbok 1997	+	-		+	+	+	Unclear	-
Peréz 1991	+	Unclear	Unclear	+	+ Cases	-	+	-
Ramos 1996	+	-		+	+	+	+	-
Ravera 1995	+	Unclear		+	Unclear	+	+	-
Rodríguez 1993	-	Unclear		+	+	-	+	-
WHO 1999a	+	Unclear		+	Unclear	+	+	-

LAM, lactational amenorrhea method WHO, World Health Organization

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 6 February 2008.

Date	Event	Description
15 April 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.

Lactational amenorrhea for family planning (Review)

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 1998

Review first published: Issue 4, 2003

Date	Event	Description
8 July 2003	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

CvdW and JB contributed to the selection of and data extraction from studies in the update and the updating of the manuscript.

CvdW and TV contributed to the preparation of the original protocol and examined trials found after the literature search.

CvdW and JK drafted, revised and approved the original review.

Rob Schouten from the Dutch Cochrane Centre and Frans Helmerhorst helped with the logistics of the original; Margaret Carver and FH edited the amended review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Written in author's own time, Netherlands.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Amenorrhea; *Contraception Behavior; *Postpartum Period; Breast Feeding; Contraception [*methods]; Family Planning Services; Lactation

MeSH check words

Female; Humans; Pregnancy